

Los Angeles Astronomical Society, Inc.
By-Laws

Article 1

Membership

- Section 1 Application for membership in the society will be granted upon payment of the first year's dues, and approval by a majority of the Board of Directors.
- Section 2 There shall be nine (9) classes of membership in the society: Regular, Senior, Youth, Life, Star, Ford, Honorary, Honorary Life and Honorary Star Life.
- Section 3 Regular: Those members who are over seventeen (17) years of age and under sixty-five (65) years of age. They shall have all the rights and privileges conferred by these By-Laws, including the right to vote, hold office, and introduce legislation.
- Section 4 Senior: Those members who are sixty-five (65) years of age or older. They shall have the rights and privileges conferred by these By-Laws, including the right to vote, hold office, and introduce legislation, but not including the right to receive complimentary copies of the "Griffith Observer".
- Section 5 Youth: Those members who are under eighteen (18) years of age. They shall have the rights and privileges conferred by these By-Laws, except the right to vote, hold office, or introduce legislation.
- Section 6 Life: Those members who shall have made application and paid the Life membership fee. They shall have and retain for life the rights and privileges conferred by these By-Laws, including the right to vote, hold office, and introduce legislation, without the payment of annual dues, but not including the right to receive complimentary copies of the "Griffith Observer".
- Section 7 Star: Those Regular, Senior, Youth, Life, or Honorary Life members who shall have paid the Star Membership fee. They shall have the rights and privileges conferred upon Star members by these By-Laws in addition to the rights and privileges attributable to their Regular, Senior, Youth, Life, or Honorary Life memberships. Those members who shall have become Star members prior to May 1, 1970 shall be considered Charter Star Members.
- Section 8 Ford: Those Regular, Senior, Youth, Life, or Honorary Life members who shall have been confirmed by the Ford Committee as qualified to operate the 18.5-inch telescope in the Clinton B. Ford Observatory and who have paid the Ford membership fee. They shall have the rights and privileges conferred by these By-Laws upon Ford members in addition to the rights and privileges attributable to their Regular, Senior, Youth, Life, or Honorary Life memberships.
- Section 9 Honorary: Those persons of outstanding prominence in the field of astronomy or related fields who shall have been recommended by the Board of Directors and approved by a majority of the Board. They shall have the rights and privileges

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

conferred by these By-Laws, except the rights to vote, hold office, introduce legislation, receive complimentary copies of the “Griffith Observer,” or receive LAAS ID badges.

- Section 10 Honorary Life: Those Regular, Senior or Youth members who for outstanding services to the society, shall have been recommended by the Board of Directors and approved by a two thirds (2/3) of the voting membership present at a regular business meeting. They shall have and retain for life the rights and privileges conferred by these By-Laws without the payment of annual dues, but not including the right to receive complimentary copies of the “Griffith Observer”.
- Section 11 Honorary Star Life: Those Star members who shall have made outstanding contributions expanding the facilities of the society for the advancement of observational astronomy and who shall have been recommended by the Star members, accepted by the Board of Directors, and approved by two thirds (2/3) of the voting membership present at a regular business meeting. They shall have and retain for life the rights and privileges conferred upon Star members by these By-Laws without the payment of annual dues or Star membership fees.
- Section 12 There exists a sub-category of Regular or Senior memberships called Family. This sub-category adds a specific cost to the annual membership dues but permits all declared individuals residing within the same residence as the Head of Family (HOF) to be considered full members of the LAAS, with the exception that the family unit may not receive more than ONE copy of the LAAS monthly bulletin nor more than ONE complimentary copy of the “Griffith Observer,” and may be charged for any LAAS ID badges requested in excess of the first two such badges.

Article 2

Privileges

- Section 1 Members in good standing shall have the use of the Society optical shop and library facilities. They shall be allowed to invite guests to the Society functions, and they shall have the right to attend all meetings of members and to speak at all such meetings. Except as otherwise indicated in the descriptions of the several categories of membership in these By-Laws, they shall receive a complimentary subscription to the “Griffith Observer” if and while that publication is then offering the society such subscriptions at substantially reduced rates, a membership card and a LAAS ID badge.
- Section 2 Star members in good standing, in addition to the above, shall be allowed the use of the Society observatory facilities. They shall be allowed to lease an observing pad on the observatory grounds and to have the exclusive use of that pad so long as they have paid the annual fee for its lease. They shall be allowed to invite guests to the observatory facilities. They shall be members of the Star Committee.
- Section 3 Ford members in good standing shall be allowed the use of the Society’s Clinton B. Ford Observatory in addition to their rights and privileges set forth in Section 1 of this Article 2.

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

Article 3

Dues and Fees

Section 1 Dues for membership shall be as follows:

- | | | |
|----|--|---|
| 1. | Regular membership
(per year) | \$45.00 |
| 2. | Youth membership
(per year) | \$20.00 |
| 3. | Family membership
(per year) | 133-1/3 % of the dues the HOF would pay
for a single membership without family |
| 4. | Senior (≥ 65 years old) membership
(per year) | \$30.00 |

Section 2 Fees for membership shall be as follows:

- | | | |
|----|--|--|
| 1. | Regular Star membership
(per year) | \$60.00 |
| 2. | Regular Star membership w/pad
(per year) | \$70.00 |
| 3. | Charter Star membership
(renewal – per year) | \$30.00 |
| 4. | Ford membership | an amount per year that the board of
directors shall fix from time to time but
which shall not exceed \$200.00 |
| 5. | Life membership
(single payment) | \$500.00 |
| 6. | If the Society's monthly Bulletin is made available to the membership on the
Society's internet website, any member to whom the Society furnishes printed
copies of that Bulletin at that member's request may be charged an additional fee
of \$15.00 per year for that service. | |

Section 3 Any member who shall be thirty (30) days delinquent on the payment of their dues and/or fees shall be sent a written notice to that effect. Any member who shall fail to remit their dues and/or fees within thirty (30) days after the date of said notice shall forfeit their membership, unless the Board of Directors extends their membership.

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

Article 4

Duties of Officers

- Section 1 President: The President shall preside at all meetings of the Society and the Board of Directors. He/she shall see that all the laws of the Society are upheld. He/she shall be the official representative of the Society in all matters involving the public and other societies. He/she shall be a member EX OFFICIO of all committees except the Nominating committee, and shall appoint all committee chairpersons except the nominating committee and the Star committee. He/she shall give a State-of-the-Society Report at the annual meeting. He/she shall by approval of the Board of Directors, appoint a recording secretary and a historian.
- Section 2 Vice-President: The Vice-President shall keep himself/herself aware of the state of the Society at all times in order that he/she may perform the duties and obligations of the President in his/her absence. He/she shall perform such other duties as the President may, from time to time, deem necessary.
- Section 3 Secretary: The secretary shall maintain the minutes of all meetings of this Society and of the Board of Directors. He/she shall be custodian of the Society's records, except such as specifically assigned to others; these records shall be open to inspection by any member in good standing, upon reasonable request. He/she shall maintain a register of membership and notify all applicants for membership of their approval by the Board of Directors, and shall issue to each member a membership card upon payment of dues. He/she shall conduct the correspondence of this Society except when otherwise directed by the President.
- Section 4 Treasurer: The Treasurer shall collect dues and fees, and all monies tendered to this Society. He/she shall act as conservator of all the Society's assets. He/she shall submit a budget for the following year to be approved by the Board of Directors (BOD). He/she shall file all government reports. He/she shall maintain a record of all financial transactions and this record shall be open to inspection by any member in good standing upon reasonable request. He/she shall present a financial report to the general membership within ninety (90) days of the close of the fiscal year. He/she shall perform such other duties as directed by the BOD. All funds shall be disbursed upon approval of the BOD. Any disbursement over \$2000 USD requires the signature of two of the three officers, these being the President, the Secretary, and the Treasurer.

Article 5

Board of Directors

- Section 1 The board members and officers elected by the membership pursuant to Article 6 of these By-Laws shall constitute the Society's Board of Directors, and each of them shall be a member of that Board.

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

- Section 2 The Board of Directors shall conduct the business of the society between regular meetings, approve all applications for membership, appoint a Nominating committee, act as the Disciplinary Review Board, and perform such other duties as specified in the Constitution and By-Laws.
- Section 3 Board members are expected to attend all scheduled board meetings. Absences in excess of 3 per year shall be grounds for possible dismissal upon review of the Board.
- Section 4 In the absence of any regular Board member, the chairperson of the meeting shall select alternative Board members to fill the vacancies. The alternate members so selected shall perform all the duties of a regular Board member at the meeting.
- Section 5 The authority of the Board of Directors is limited by the following:
1. The 31” Telescope shall be situated permanently at the Society’s remote observing site, presently located in Lockwood Valley. The Board has, by a 2/3rds majority vote of all Board members, the authority to move the telescope for a short period of time.
 2. Movement of the 31” telescope for major or emergency repairs, or upgrades, requires a 2/3rds majority vote of all Board members, as well as subsequent notification of entire Society. The telescope shall be returned as soon as feasible to the remote observing site, and with no interim movements.
 3. Movement of the 31” telescope to a warmer, winter observatory site requires;
 - (a) Thirty days written notice to all Society and Board members.
 - (b) A 2/3rds majority vote of all Board members and a 2/3rds majority of voting members present at the General Meeting immediately following the thirty-day written notice of such vote.
- The telescope shall be returned as soon as feasible to the remote observing site.
- Section 6 Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at 8:00 p.m., local time, on the Wednesday next preceding the second Monday of each month, at the society’s observatory in Garvey Ranch Park, Monterey Park, California.

Article 6

Election of Officers and Board Members

- Section 1 Election of Officers and Board Members shall be conducted by ballot at the regular meeting held in December of each year.
- Section 2 A Nominating committee consisting of three (3) Regular and Senior Citizen members in good standing, shall be appointed by the Board of Directors at the Board meeting held in September of each year. It shall be the duty of the committee to prepare a list of one (1) or more candidates for each office to be filled and to present this list to the Society at the regular meeting prior to the election.

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

- Section 3 Written notice of the election and nominations shall be sent to all members at least thirty (30) days prior to the election.
- Section 4 Nominations may be made by any voting members after the Nominating committee's list has been made known at the general meeting.
- Section 5 Each officer shall be elected by written ballot, the order being the President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and the Board of Directors.
- Section 6 Absentee ballots may be cast by mail. In order for these ballots to be counted, they must be received by the Secretary at least one (1) week prior to the election.
- Section 7 The candidate receiving a majority of the votes shall be declared elected. If no candidate receives a majority of the votes on the first ballot, a second vote shall be taken between the two candidates receiving the most votes. The candidate receiving a majority of the votes cast in that second vote shall be declared elected.
- Section 8 Special elections to fill vacancies may be held at any regular or special meeting, provided that written notice of the election shall be given at least thirty (30) days prior to the election. The Board of Directors shall serve as a Nominating committee and shall nominate one (1) or more candidates for the office to be filled.
- Section 9 No member shall be on the Board of Directors who has not met all of the following criteria:
1. Membership in Good Standing
 2. Regular, Senior, Family, or Life member for at least 1 year

Article 7

Vacancies

- Section 1 If a vacancy should occur in the office of the President, the Vice-President shall immediately become the President.
- Section 2 If the President shall become incapable of performing the duties and obligations of their office, the Vice-President shall assume those duties and obligations.
- Section 3 If any officer shall become incapable of performing the duties and obligations of their office for an extended period of time, the Board of Directors may declare the office vacant.
- Section 4 Vacancies occurring in the offices other than the President shall be filled by appointment of the President, with the approval of the Board of Directors, until such time as a special election shall be held.

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

Article 8

Committees

- Section 1 Membership: It shall be the duty of the Membership committee to process all applications for membership and to present these applications to the Board of Directors for approval.
- Section 2 Program: It shall be the duty of the Program committee to schedule and organize special programs for the society, to screen all presentations by members and to work with the President in planning meetings and programs.
- Section 3 Observing: It shall be the duty of the observing committee to present to the general membership observational highlights for the month, to help organize and coordinate any special observing programs, and to work in conjunction with special interest groups within the society.
- Section 4 Star Party: It shall be the duty of the Star Party committee to organize and supervise all star parties.
- Section 5 Star: It shall be the duty of the Star committee, with the approval of the Board of Directors, to regulate the operation and use of the observing facilities.
- Section 6 Ad hoc: The Board of Directors will appoint committees as necessary to deal with specific issues as they arise.

Article 9

Conduct

- Section 1 All members shall conform to the rules of the Society when participating in Society affairs.
- Section 2 No member shall use any equipment, facilities, tools, or supplies of the Society for other than Society purposes. Each member shall be personally responsible for Society property entrusted to his/her care, unless otherwise provided for by the Board of Directors.
- Section 3 Members whose conduct is detrimental to the Society shall be subject to disciplinary action. Such action may be one or more of the following:
1. Censure
 2. Suspension of privileges, not to exceed ninety (90) days
 3. Impeachment of officers
 4. Revocation of membership
 5. Dismissal from the Board

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

Article 10

Disciplinary Review

- Section 1 The Officers and Board of Directors shall hear all cases involving disciplinary action and shall be referred to as the Disciplinary Review Board. If an Officer or member of the Board is accused, he/she shall not be a member of the Disciplinary Review Board.
- Section 2 The Board of Directors shall determine the merits of the case. If the Board of Directors determines that the case has enough merit, they shall call the accused in for a review hearing.
- Section 3 A written notice to appear shall be sent to the accused at least thirty (30) days prior to the review hearing. The notice shall specify the charges against him/her. If the accused fails to appear in answer to this notice, he/she shall be considered guilty of the charges as specified.
- Section 4 Order of the Review Hearing:
1. The charges shall be read and all the evidence on hand shall be offered.
 2. The accused shall be allowed to present his/her defense and introduce witnesses on his/her behalf.
 3. Each side shall be allowed to cross-examine the other's witnesses and to introduce rebutting testimony.
 4. All persons, except the Review Board, shall retire from the hearing room. The Review Board shall then deliberate on the merits of the case. A majority vote of the Review Board shall be required to reach a verdict.
 5. If the verdict be not guilty, all specified charges shall be dropped.
 6. If the verdict be guilty, the Review Board shall determine the disciplinary action to be taken. Revocation of membership and impeachment of officers shall require a two thirds (2/3) vote of the Review Board. In other cases, a simple majority vote shall be required.
 7. The accused shall be brought back into the hearing room and the verdict shall be read to him/her. A written notice shall be sent to the accused within thirty (30) days after the hearing.
- Section 5 In the event of a default judgment, the accused shall have the right to petition the Board of Directors for a hearing if he/she can show good cause why he/she did not appear in answer to the written notice. If the Board shall find the cause sufficient, a hearing shall be held no more than thirty (30) days after the date of the petition. If the Board shall find the cause not sufficient, the judgment shall stand.
- Section 6 In the event of revocation of membership, re-application for membership may be made no less than one (1) year after the effective date of the revocation.

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.

Article 11

Quorum

- Section 1 Ten percent of the voting membership shall constitute a quorum at any regular meeting of this Society. Seven(7) members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Board of Directors.

Article 12

Audit

- Section 1 At the end of the fiscal year the President, with the approval of the Board of Directors, shall appoint an Auditing committee. It shall be the duty of this committee to audit the financial records of this Society.
- Section 2 The audit report shall be published within thirty (30) days after it has been signed by the Auditing committee.
- Section 3 The period from January 1 to December 31 shall constitute a fiscal year.

Article 13

Amendments

- Section 1 The By-Laws may be amended at any regular meeting of the Society by a vote of two thirds (2/3) of the voting membership present, or at any meeting of the Board of Directors by a two thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors, provided that a written notice of the subject matter and purpose of an amendment by the members shall be given to the voting membership at least thirty (30) days prior to voting.

As last amended on October 5 and November 9, 2011

Note: The Board of Directors is working on amendments to the By-Laws and expect to present them later in 2017.